



# DB Comparer for SQL Server User's Manual

© 1999-2025 EMS Software Development

# DB Comparer for SQL Server User's Manual

#### © 1999-2025 EMS Software Development

All rights reserved.

This manual documents EMS DB Comparer for SQL Server

No parts of this work may be reproduced in any form or by any means - graphic, electronic, or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, taping, or information storage and retrieval systems - without the written permission of the publisher.

Products that are referred to in this document may be either trademarks and/or registered trademarks of the respective owners. The publisher and the author make no claim to these trademarks.

While every precaution has been taken in the preparation of this document, the publisher and the author assume no responsibility for errors or omissions, or for damages resulting from the use of information contained in this document or from the use of programs and source code that may accompany it. In no event shall the publisher and the author be liable for any loss of profit or any other commercial damage caused or alleged to have been caused directly or indirectly by this document.

Use of this documentation is subject to the following terms: you may create a printed copy of this documentation solely for your own personal use. Conversion to other formats is allowed as long as the actual content is not altered or edited in any way.

Document generated on: 12.02.2025

# **Table of Contents**

3

Part I	Welcome to DB Comparer for SQL Server!	6
	What's new	7
	System requirements	8
	Installation	9
	Registration	10
	How to register DB Comparer	12
	Other EMS Products	14
Part II	Managing projects	21
	Getting started	22
	Opening / saving project	23
	Compare Project wizard	26
	Setting database options	
	Selecting databases	
	Setting compare options	
	Select objects for comparison	
	Viewing Summary Info	33 34
Part III	Working with project	37
	Browsing database tree	39
	Viewing objects definition	42
	Information window	43
	Working with modification scripts	45
	Working with modification scripts Switching windows	45 47
Part IV	Working with modification scripts Switching windows SQL Script editor	45 47 49
Part IV Part V	Working with modification scripts Switching windows SQL Script editor Reports management	45 47 49 53
Part IV Part V	Working with modification scripts Switching windows SQL Script editor Reports management Report designer	45 47 49 53 54
Part IV Part V	Working with modification scripts Switching windows SQL Script editor Reports management Report designer	45 47 49 53 54 54
Part IV Part V Part VI	Working with modification scripts Switching windows SQL Script editor Reports management Report designer	
Part IV Part V Part VI	Working with modification scripts	
Part IV Part V Part VI	Working with modification scripts	
Part IV Part V Part VI	Working with modification scripts	

4

	Colors		
	Editor option	IS	73
	General		
	Display		
	Color		
	Quick code	e	
	Keyboard ter	mplates	78
	Selecting pro	ogram language	80
Part VII	Console	application	82
	Using DB Cor	mparer console	83
	How to sched	dule console run	85
Part VIII	Appendix	x	87
	Find Text dia	alog	87
	Replace Tex	t dialog	89
	Customize to	polbars and menus	92
	Checking for	r updates	96



## 1 Welcome to DB Comparer for SQL Server!

**DB Comparer for SQL Server** is an excellent tool for comparing SQL Server databases and discovering differences in their structures. You can view all the differences in compared database objects and execute an automatically generated script to eliminate all or selected differences. A simple and intuitively comprehensive GUI allows you to work with several projects simultaneously, define comparison parameters, and alter modification scripts. Many other features are implemented to make your work with our database comparison tool easy and fast.

Visit our web-site for details: <u>https://www.sqlmanager.net</u>

#### **Key features**

6

- Comparing and synchronization of databases or schemas on different servers as well as on a single server
- Comparing all database objects or selected ones only. Comparing by all or by selected properties of objects only
- Visual representation of differences between databases with details and modification scripts for the different objects
- Ability to synchronize databases manually step by step or automatically
- Ability to generate reports with database differences. Possibility to add custom reports
- Ability to automate the database comparison and synchronization using the console application
- Working with several compare projects at once
- Saving and loading projects with all their parameters
- A wide variety of options for comparison and synchronization
- Built-in SQL Script editor with syntax highlight
- Easy-to-use user interface with dark schema support
- Latest SQL Server versions support

#### and more...

#### **Product information**

Homepage	https://www.sqlmanager.net/products/mssql/dbcomparer
Support Ticket	https://www.sqlmanager.net/support
System	
Register online at	https://www.sqlmanager.net/products/mssql/dbcomparer/buy

### 1.1 What's new

7

#### Version

DB Comparer for SQL Server 5.2

Release date February 12, 2025

#### What's new in DB Comparer?

• Check for program updates added.



- All objects are now shown after re-compare, not only modified ones.
- The position of the main program window is restored on restart now.
- The error occurred on switching some keyboard layouts. Fixed now.
- The support of temporal tables added.
- Other minor improvements and fixes.

### 1.2 System requirements

- Microsoft Windows XP, Microsoft Windows Server 2003, Microsoft Windows Server 2008, Microsoft Windows Server 2008 R2, Microsoft Windows Server 2012, Microsoft Windows Server 2012 R2, Microsoft Windows Server 2016, Microsoft Windows Server 2019, Microsoft Windows Vista, Microsoft Windows 7, Microsoft Windows 8/8.1, Microsoft Windows 10, Microsoft Windows 11, Microsoft Windows 11 ARM
- 512 MB of RAM or more
- 50 MB of available HD space for program installation
- Microsoft Data Access Components (MDAC) or SQL Server Native Client
- Possibility to connect to any local or remote SQL Server<sup>™</sup>
- Supported MS SQL Server versions: from 7.0 up to 2022

### 1.3 Installation

If you are installing DB Comparer for SQL Server for the first time on your PC:

- download the DB Comparer for SQL Server distribution package from the <u>download</u> page available at our site;
- unzip the downloaded file to any local directory, e.g. C:\unzipped;
- run *MsComparerSetup.exe* from the local directory and follow the instructions of the installation wizard;
- after the installation process is completed, find the DB Comparer shortcut in the corresponding group of Windows Start menu.

If you want to **upgrade an installed copy of DB Comparer for SQL Server** to the latest version:

- download the DB Comparer for SQL Server distribution package from the <u>download</u> page available at our site;
- unzip the downloaded file to any local directory, e.g. C:\unzipped;
- close DB Comparer application if it is running;
- run *MsComparerSetup.exe* from the local directory and follow the instructions of the installation wizard.

#### See also:

System requirements

9

### 1.4 Registration

10

All purchases are provided by **PayPro Global** registration service. The **PayPro Global** order process is protected via a secure connection and makes on-line ordering by credit/ debit card quick and safe.

**PayPro Global** is a global e-commerce provider for software and shareware sales via the Internet. It accepts payments in US Dollars, Euros, Pounds Sterling, Japanese Yen, Australian Dollars, Canadian Dollars or Swiss Franks by Credit Card (Visa, MasterCard/EuroCard, American Express, Diners Club), Bank/Wire Transfer.

If you want to review your order information, or you have questions about ordering or payments please visit our <u>PayPro Global Shopper Support</u>, provided by **PayPro Global**.

Please note that all of our products are delivered via ESD (Electronic Software Delivery) only. After purchase you will be able to immediately download the registration keys. Also you will receive a copy of registration keys by email. Please make sure to enter a valid email address in your order. If you have not received the keys within 2 hours, please, contact us at sales@sqlmanager.net.

Product distribution	PayPro Global
<b>EMS DB Comparer for SQL Server</b> (Business license) + 1-Year Maintenance*	
<b>EMS DB Comparer for SQL Server</b> (Business license) + 2-Year Maintenance*	
<b>EMS DB Comparer for SQL Server</b> (Business license) + 3-Year Maintenance*	Desister Newl
<b>EMS DB Comparer for SQL Server</b> (Non-commercial license) + 1- Year Maintenance*	<u>Register now!</u>
<b>EMS DB Comparer for SQL Server</b> (Non-commercial license) + 2- Year Maintenance*	
<b>EMS DB Comparer for SQL Server</b> (Non-commercial license) + 3- Year Maintenance*	
EMS DB Comparer for SQL Server (Trial version)	Download Now!

\*EMS Maintenance Program provides the following benefits:

- Free software bug fixes, enhancements, updates and upgrades during the maintenance period
- Free unlimited communications with technical staff for the purpose of reporting Software failures
- Free reasonable number of communications for the purpose of consultation on operational aspects of the software

After your maintenance expires you will not be able to update your software or get technical support. To protect your investments and have your software up-to-date, you need to renew your maintenance.

You can easily reinitiate/renew your maintenance with our on-line, speed-through Maintenance Reinstatement/Renewal Interface. After reinitiating/renewal you will receive a confirmation e-mail with all the necessary information.

### See also:

How to register DB Comparer

### 1.5 How to register DB Comparer

12

If you have not registered your copy of DB Comparer for SQL Server yet, you can do it by selecting the **Help | Register DB Comparer for SQL Server** main menu item or by selecting the **Help | About** main menu item and pressing the **Register Now** button to call the **Register DB Comparer for SQL Server** dialog.

About Database	e Comparer for SQL Server	×
	Database Comparer for SQL Server 5.0.0 (build 55183) © 1999-2022 EMS Software Development. All rights reserved.	
	Developers: Dmitry Schastlivtsev, Alexander Zhiltsov, Alexey Karpovich	
	Company Home Page: <u>http://www.sqlmanager.net/</u>	
	Product Home Page: <u>http://www.sqlmanager.net/products/mssql/dbcompa</u>	m
	Registered to :	_
	EMS (Business license)	
	Software Maintenance Period Valid Till 07/10/2024.	
	Read the License Agreement	
Warning: This p treaties. Unauth and criminal per possible under	rogram is protected by copyright law and international <u>OK</u> norized reproduction or distribution may result in severe civil nalties, and will be prosecuted to the maximum extent the law. <u>Register Now</u>	

To register your newly purchased copy of EMS DB Comparer for SQL Server, perform the following steps:

- receive the notification letter from PayPro Global with the registration info;
- enter the **Registration Name** and the **Registration Key** from this letter;
- make sure that the registration process has been completed successfully check the registration information in the About DB Comparer for SQL Server dialog (use the Help | About main menu item to open this dialog).

Register Database Comparer for PostgreSQL	×
Please enter the registration information you received when purchasing Database Comparer for PostgreSQL.	
Registration <u>N</u> ame	
EMS Software Development	
Registration <u>K</u> ey	
<u>R</u> egister <u>L</u> ater	Help

See also: Registration

#### 1.6 Other EMS Products

### **Quick navigation**



#### **MySQL**

14



#### SQL Management Studio for MySQL

EMS SQL Management Studio for MySQL is a complete solution for database administration and development. SQL Studio unites the must-have tools in one powerful and easy-to-use environment that will make you more productive than ever before!



<u>SQL Manager for MySQL</u> Simplify and automate your database development process, design, explore and maintain existing databases, build compound SQL query statements, manage database user rights and manipulate data in different ways.



#### Data Export for MySQL

Export your data to any of 20 most popular data formats, including MS Access, MS Excel, MS Word, PDF, HTML and more.



#### Data Import for MySQL

Import your data from MS Access, MS Excel and other popular formats to database tables via user-friendly wizard interface.

#### Data Pump for MySQL

Migrate from most popular databases (MySQL, PostgreSQL, Oracle, DB2, InterBase/Firebird, etc.) to MySQL.



#### Data Generator for MySQL

Generate test data for database testing purposes in a simple and direct way. Wide range of data generation parameters.



#### DB Comparer for MySQL

Compare and synchronize the structure of your databases. Move changes on your development database to production with ease.



#### DB Extract for MySQL

Create database backups in the form of SQL scripts, save your database structure and table data as a whole or partially.



#### SQL Query for MySQL

Analyze and retrieve your data, build your queries visually, work with query plans, build charts based on retrieved data quickly and more.



#### Data Comparer for MySQL

Compare and synchronize the contents of your databases. Automate your data migrations from development to production database.

Scroll to top

#### **Microsoft SQL Server**

#### SQL Management Studio for SQL Server

EMS SQL Management Studio for SQL Server is a complete solution for database administration and development. SQL Studio unites the must-have tools in one powerful and easy-to-use environment that will make you more productive than ever before!



#### EMS SQL Backup for SQL Server

Perform backup and restore, log shipping and many other regular maintenance tasks on the whole set of SQL Servers in your company.



#### SQL Administrator for SQL Server

Perform administrative tasks in the fastest, easiest and most efficient way. Manage maintenance tasks, monitor their performance schedule, frequency and the last execution result.



#### SQL Manager for SQL Server

Simplify and automate your database development process, design, explore and maintain existing databases, build compound SQL query statements, manage database user rights and manipulate data in different ways.



#### Data Export for SQL Server

Export your data to any of 20 most popular data formats, including MS Access, MS Excel, MS Word, PDF, HTML and more



#### Data Import for SQL Server

Import your data from MS Access, MS Excel and other popular formats to database tables via user-friendly wizard interface.

_	_	-		
	-	-		
	-			
-		-	1	

#### Data Pump for SQL Server

Migrate from most popular databases (MySQL, PostgreSQL, Oracle, DB2, InterBase/Firebird, etc.) to Microsoft® SQL Server<sup>™</sup>.

### 5

#### Data Generator for SQL Server

Generate test data for database testing purposes in a simple and direct way. Wide range of data generation parameters.



#### DB Comparer for SQL Server

Compare and synchronize the structure of your databases. Move changes on your development database to production with ease.

		- 1	
	-		
-		-	
	_	~	
			•

#### DB Extract for SQL Server

Create database backups in the form of SQL scripts, save your database structure and table data as a whole or partially.

#### SOL Ouery for SOL Server

Analyze and retrieve your data, build your queries visually, work with query plans, build charts based on retrieved data quickly and more.



#### Data Comparer for SQL Server

Compare and synchronize the contents of your databases. Automate your data migrations from development to production database.

Scroll to top

#### PostgreSQL

#### SQL Management Studio for PostgreSQL

EMS SQL Management Studio for PostgreSQL is a complete solution for database administration and development. SQL Studio unites the must-have tools in one powerful and easy-to-use environment that will make you more productive than ever before!

### 5

#### EMS SQL Backup for PostgreSQL

Creates backups for multiple PostgreSQL servers from a single console. You can use automatic backup tasks with advanced schedules and store them in local or remote folders or cloud storages

#### SQL Manager for PostgreSQL

Simplify and automate your database development process, design, explore and maintain existing databases, build compound SQL query statements, manage database user rights and manipulate data in different ways.



#### Data Export for PostgreSQL

Export your data to any of 20 most popular data formats, including MS Access, MS Excel, MS Word, PDF, HTML and more



#### Data Import for PostgreSQL

Import your data from MS Access, MS Excel and other popular formats to database tables via user-friendly wizard interface.



#### Data Pump for PostgreSQL

Migrate from most popular databases (MySQL, SQL Server, Oracle, DB2, InterBase/Firebird, etc.) to PostgreSQL.



#### Data Generator for PostgreSQL

Generate test data for database testing purposes in a simple and direct way. Wide range of data generation parameters.



#### DB Comparer for PostgreSQL

Compare and synchronize the structure of your databases. Move changes on your development database to production with ease.



#### DB Extract for PostgreSQL

Create database backups in the form of SQL scripts, save your database structure and table data as a whole or partially.

	C				
Г			ï	٦	4
F		2	c	1	1
L	2				

#### SQL Query for PostgreSQL

Analyze and retrieve your data, build your queries visually, work with query plans, build charts based on retrieved data quickly and more.



#### Data Comparer for PostgreSQL

Compare and synchronize the contents of your databases. Automate your data migrations from development to production database.

Scroll to top

#### InterBase / Firebird



#### SQL Management Studio for InterBase/Firebird

EMS SQL Management Studio for InterBase and Firebird is a complete solution for database administration and development. SQL Studio unites the must-have tools in one powerful and easy-to-use environment that will make you more productive than ever before!



#### SQL Manager for InterBase/Firebird

Simplify and automate your database development process, design, explore and maintain existing databases, build compound SQL query statements, manage database user rights and manipulate data in different ways.



#### Data Export for InterBase/Firebird

Export your data to any of 20 most popular data formats, including MS Access, MS Excel, MS Word, PDF, HTML and more



#### Data Import for InterBase/Firebird

Import your data from MS Access, MS Excel and other popular formats to database tables via user-friendly wizard interface.

#### Data Pump for InterBase/Firebird

Migrate from most popular databases (MySQL, SQL Server, Oracle, DB2, PostgreSQL, etc.) to InterBase/Firebird.

-	-	
	_	
	_	

#### Data Generator for InterBase/Firebird

Generate test data for database testing purposes in a simple and direct way. Wide range of data generation parameters.



#### DB Comparer for InterBase/Firebird

Compare and synchronize the structure of your databases. Move changes on your development database to production with ease.



#### DB Extract for InterBase/Firebird

Create database backups in the form of SQL scripts, save your database structure and table data as a whole or partially.



#### SQL Query for InterBase/Firebird

Analyze and retrieve your data, build your queries visually, work with query plans, build charts based on retrieved data quickly and more.



#### Data Comparer for InterBase/Firebird

Compare and synchronize the contents of your databases. Automate your data migrations from development to production database.

Scroll to top

#### Oracle



#### SQL Management Studio for Oracle

EMS SQL Management Studio for Oracle is a complete solution for database administration and development. SQL Studio unites the must-have tools in one powerful and easy-to-use environment that will make you more productive than ever before!

#### SQL Manager for Oracle

Simplify and automate your database development process, design, explore and maintain existing databases, build compound SQL query statements, manage database user rights and manipulate data in different ways.



#### Data Export for Oracle

Export your data to any of 20 most popular data formats, including MS Access, MS Excel, MS Word, PDF, HTML and more.



#### Data Import for Oracle

Import your data from MS Access, MS Excel and other popular formats to database tables via

user-friendly wizard interface.



18

Data Pump for Oracle

Migrate from most popular databases (MySQL, PostgreSQL, MySQL, DB2, InterBase/Firebird, etc.) to Oracle



#### Data Generator for Oracle

Generate test data for database testing purposes in a simple and direct way. Wide range of data generation parameters.



#### DB Comparer for Oracle

Compare and synchronize the structure of your databases. Move changes on your development database to production with ease.



#### DB Extract for Oracle

Create database backups in the form of SQL scripts, save your database structure and table data as a whole or partially.



AR

#### SQL Query for Oracle

Analyze and retrieve your data, build your queries visually, work with query plans, build charts based on retrieved data quickly and more.



Compare and synchronize the contents of your databases. Automate your data migrations from development to production database.

Scroll to top

#### IBM DB2



#### SQL Manager for DB2

Simplify and automate your database development process, design, explore and maintain existing databases, build compound SQL query statements, manage database user rights and manipulate data in different ways.



#### Data Export for DB2

Export your data to any of 20 most popular data formats, including MS Access, MS Excel, MS Word, PDF, HTML and more.



#### Data Import for DB2

Import your data from MS Access, MS Excel and other popular formats to database tables via user-friendly wizard interface.

#### Data Pump for DB2

Migrate from most popular databases (MySQL, PostgreSQL, Oracle, MySQL, InterBase/Firebird, etc.) to DB2



#### Data Generator for DB2

Generate test data for database testing purposes in a simple and direct way. Wide range of data generation parameters.



#### DB Extract for DB2

Create database backups in the form of SQL scripts, save your database structure and table data as a whole or partially.



#### SQL Query for DB2

Analyze and retrieve your data, build your queries visually, work with query plans, build charts

based on retrieved data quickly and more.

Scroll to top

#### **Tools & components**



#### Advanced Data Export for RAD Studio VCL

Advanced Data Export for RAD Studio VCL allows you to save your data in the most popular office programs formats.



#### Advanced Data Export .NET

Advanced Data Export .NET is a component for Microsoft Visual Studio .NET that will allow you to save your data in the most popular data formats for the future viewing, modification, printing or web publication. You can export data into MS Access, MS Excel, MS Word (RTF), PDF, TXT, DBF, CSV and more! There will be no need to waste your time on tiresome data conversion - Advanced Data Export will do the task quickly and will give the result in the desired format.



#### Advanced Data Import for RAD Studio VCL

Advanced Data Import for RAD Studio VCL will allow you to import your data to the database from files in the most popular data formats.

6	7	ì
	X	ļ
•	-	

#### Advanced PDF Generator for RAD Studio

Advanced PDF Generator for RAD Studio gives you an opportunity to create PDF documents with your applications written on Delphi or C++ Builder.



#### Advanced Query Builder for RAD Studio VCL

Advanced Query Builder for RAD Studio VCL is a powerful component for Delphi and C++ Builder intended for visual building SQL statements for the SELECT, INSERT, UPDATE and DELETE clauses.



#### Advanced Excel Report for RAD Studio

Advanced Excel Report for RAD Studio is a powerful band-oriented generator of template-based reports in MS Excel.



#### Advanced Localizer for RAD Studio VCL

Advanced Localizer for RAD Studio VCL is an indispensable component for Delphi for adding multilingual support to your applications.

Scroll to top



## 2 Managing projects

**DB Comparer for SQL Server** allows you to create, save and open saved *projects*. To start working with the program you need to <u>create the project</u>. You can <u>modify options</u> of an existing project any time your work with it.

<u>Creating project</u> <u>Opening / saving project</u> <u>Compare Project wizard</u>

See also: Working with project SQL Script editor Reports management DB Comparer options Console application

### 2.1 Getting started

To start working with DB Comparer for SQL Server, you should either create a new project or <u>open</u> an existing one.

To create the new project select the **Project | New Project** main menu item or use the **New Project** button on the toolbar (Ctrl+N).



Then you need to set <u>connection properties</u> for source and target databases.

See also: <u>Opening / saving Project</u> <u>Compare Project wizard</u> <u>Viewing Summary Info</u>

## 2.2 Opening / saving project

23

To open an existing DB Comparer project, select **Project | Open Project...** or use the P **Open Project...** button on the toolbar (*Ctrl+O*).



To save a DB Comparer project, select **Project | Save Project (Save Project As...**) or use the **Save Project (** $\blacksquare$  **Save Project As**) button on the toolbar (*Ctrl+S / Ctrl+Alt+S*). In the Project Options select **Save Project** button to save the currently edited project.

If this is the first time that this project is being saved or if you select **Save Project As...**, you are to specify the path to the project file and provide a name for the project file within the **Save project options** dialog.

🚯 Save Template Option	ns X
<u>F</u> ile name	
D:\CurrentTest\DbCompar	er\pack.icp
Console Options	
🗹 Synchronize database	s after comparing
Abort script execut	ting on error
Direction	From Source to Target $\sim$
🗹 Create script file	D:\CurrentTest\DbComparer\pack.bat
🖂 Run in backgroun	d mode
🖂 Analyze renamed (	objects
🗹 Use localization	
Output file	D:\CurrentTest\DbComparer\packsql
Script type	Batch ~
"C:\Program Files (x& "D:\CurrentTest\Db(	36)\EMS\DB Comparer for InterBase & Firebird\IbComparerC.exe'' Comparer\pack.icp'' ''D:\CurrentTest\DbComparer\packsql'' /B /A /L
<u>C</u> omment	
	~ >
	Save Cancel <u>H</u> elp

#### **Console options**

#### Synchronize databases after comparing

With this option the generated script is executed right after comparing. With this option disabled, the synchronization script is saved without executing.

#### Abort script executing on error

This option specifies whether the synchronization script must be aborted on the error.

### **Direction:**

Select the database synchronization direction.

#### Create script file

Enable to specify the path to create a command file for Command Line or PowerShell.

#### **Run in background mode**

Enable to add the /B option and run the file in the background mode.

#### Analyze renamed objects

Enable to add the /A option for comparison in the console application with the Analyze

#### renamed objects option.

#### **Use localization**

Enable it to add the /L option and output text in the console application on the same language as in the GUI.

#### **Output file**

Specify the directory to save the text file with SQL script.

#### Script type

Select Batch or PowerShell type of the file with the command.

#### Comment

Add custom text to describe the project. This info is saved to the template file in [#Comment#] section.

### See also:

<u>Creating Project</u> <u>Compare Project Wizard</u> Viewing Summary Info

### 2.3 Compare Project wizard

After you have created or loaded the project, the Compare Project wizard starts.

When the comparison process is finished, the project will be loaded into the DB Comparer application automatically, and you will be able to start <u>working with the project</u>.

#### Wizard steps

26

Setting database options Setting compare options Select objects for compare Renamed objects

#### See also:

<u>Getting started</u> <u>Opening / saving Project</u> Viewing Summary Info

### 2.3.1 Setting database options

Database connection properties for the source and target databases are set in the same way.

If both the source and target databases are located on the same server, you can check the **Both databases on the same server** option and set all the properties (except for the database/schema name) only once.

Source Database Connect Options						
Host	ASCHEL\SQL2014 ~	Login				
Authentication	Windows ~	Password				
OLE DB provider	Default for server version $\sim$	Database				

#### **Connect options**

Specify the host you are going to work with: type in the host name in the **Host** field or use the drop-down list to select one among the found servers.

Please note that if SQL Server is installed as a named instance, you should enter the name of your machine and the instance name in the **Host** field in the following format: computer\_name\sqlserver\_instance\_name (e.g. "MYCOMPUTER\SQLEXPRESS").

Select the **OLE DB provider** type from the drop-down list to establish connection to the

server. Generally the Default provider is selected.

#### **Authentication type**

Specify the type of SQL Server authentication to be used for the connection: • *SQL Server* or • Windows authentication. It is strongly recommended to avoid using SQL Server authentication with "sa" as the login.

If SQL Server has been selected as the authentication type, you should also provide authorization settings: **Login** and **Password**.

After that it is necessary to specify the source and target databases you are going to work with: type in the database name in the Database field or use the in button to select one in the Select database list.

For your convenience the **Connection timeout** option is implemented: set this option to optimize the performance of the utility upon connection to your instance of SQL Server. Use the **Command timeout** option to set time available for command execution.

If you are using the EMS SQL Management Studio for SQL Server version of DB Comparer for SQL Server then the **Select registered database** button is available. Click this button to pick a database already registered in the EMS SQL Management Studio in the <u>Select Host or Database</u> dialog.

When done, press the **Next** button to <u>set compare options</u>.

<u>Next step ></u>

See also: Setting database options Setting compare options

#### 2.3.1.1 Selecting databases

When the server connection settings are specified, you should select databases for comparison using the **Select database** dialog.

To call this dialog, click the 🔤 ellipsis button of the **Database** control at the <u>Step 1</u>.

Select database		X
e AdventureWorks		
U DemoDB		
hr		
LargeDB		
😁 master		
E TEST		
🧧 TestDB		
📙 vcs		
📙 xtraLargeDB		
	ОК	Cancel

When you are done, press **OK** to apply the database selection.

#### 2.3.1.2 Selecting registered database

Use this dialog to select a database for comparison. This dialog is available only in EMS SQL Management Studio version of DB Comparer for SQL Server.



All databases registered in EMS SQL Management Studio for SQL Server are displayed in the list.

Select the necessary database and click the **OK** button.

Database registration information will be filled on the <u>first step</u> automatically.

### 2.3.2 Setting compare options

Set comparison options for the project.

Compare Project Wizard	-[D:\CurrentTest\Ms Db Compre	r\EMStest.scp]	– o x			
Select object types for c	Compare Project Wizard Select object types for comparison and set their properties. Apply filters and black lists if needed.					
	Compare options Full datababase comparing Source Schema		O Schema to schema Target Schema			
DB Comparer for SQL Server	Case sensitive comparing       Image: Analyze renamed objects         Add comments to generated script       Image: Show objects list         Ignore autogenerated primary key names       Ignore file group		<ul> <li>✓ Analyze renamed objects</li> <li>✓ Show objects list</li> <li>☐ Ignore file group</li> </ul>			
Sul Server	Database object □ constants Chemas	Compa ^	Schemas Compare Options Compare Options			
	Tables		Script generation Generate create script Generate alter script Generate drop script			
	☐ Triggers ☐ 10 Views ☐ 10 Indices ☐ 10 Triggers ☐ 10 Procedures		Compare properties   Description  Owner (compare only)  Grants			
	UDFs UDTs Sequences					
<u>H</u> elp Save Pro	oject		< Back Next > Cancel			

#### **Compare options**

Here you can specify whether to perform *Full database* or *Schema to schema* comparing. In the latter case select *Source* and *Target* schemas by clicking the ellipsis button of the corresponding controls.

#### Case sensitive comparing

Enable this option to make the comparing process case sensitive. Note that you can use a **Case sensitive** filter as well, just turn on the corresponding option.

#### Ignore file group

Enable this option to exclude file groups from comparison.

#### Ignore autogenerated primary key names

Enable this option to consider automatically generated master primary key name and target one to be identical.

#### Analyze renamed objects

This option enables/disables comparing tables and fields which might have been renamed.

#### Show objects list

If this option is checked the list of all objects is displayed on the next step. If there is no need to check the list of retrieved objects you can uncheck this option to speed up comparison process.

#### Add comments to generated script

Use this option to toggle comments in modification script.

Select object type in the **Database object** tree, set a flag to include the object type into the comparison process.

The **Select All** and **Unselect All** buttons in the popup menu are implemented to make option selection easier.

#### **Compare Options**

Define which properties are compared for the selected object type.

#### **Filter Options**

For your convenience the filter of object names is added. By default, *filter by mask* is used. A valid mask consists of literal characters, sets, and wildcards. Each literal character must match a single character in the string. The comparison to literal characters is case-insensitive. Each set begins with an opening bracket ([) and ends with a closing bracket (]). You can use standard wildcards such as asterix (\*) or percent sign (%) which are the same, or the question mark (?).

Tables Compare Options				
Compare	e Options	Filter Options*		
<b>F</b> : <b>H</b> = =	Intral			_
Filter	=17			
	Case	e sensitive	Regular expression	
Always	exclude t	the following obje	ects:	
				$\wedge$
				$\vee$

To apply filter using regular expression, check the **Regular expression** option.

Enable **Case sensitive** option to make the regular expression filter case sensitive.

#### Always exclude following objects

Enter the objects (one on the line) that you do not want to be compared.

To delete filter condition you may use the **Clear Filter** button of the **Database objects** popup menu.

< Previous step

See also: Setting database options Setting compare options

### 2.3.3 Select objects for comparison

You can review objects for both databases at this step.

Compare Project Wizard	-[D:\CurrentTest\Ms Db Comprer\EMStest.scp	]	-		×
Compare Project Wizard	comparison.				
		On Source and Target			
	Name in Source	Name in Target			
	dho DimCustomer	dha DimCustomer		1	2
	do DimDate	dbo DimDate		L F	3
	dbo.DimDate2	dbo.DimDate2		, L	3
	dbo.DimDepartmentGroup	dbo.DimDepartmentGroup		, F	3
DB	dbo.DimEmployee	dbo.DimEmployee		F	3
Comparer		×			
SOI Server		On Source Only			
	Name in Source	Name in Target			
	🖵 🧰 Tables (3)				$\checkmark$
	dbo.DimAccount				$\checkmark$
	🐨 🛅 dbo.DimSalesReason				$\checkmark$
	dbo.ProspectiveBuyer				$\checkmark$
	⊕ 📮 UDFs (1)				$\checkmark$
					$\checkmark$
	C	<b>v</b>			
		On Target Only			
	Name in Source	Name in Target			
	E Tables (2)				$\checkmark$
		dbo.DimAccountTotal			$\checkmark$
		dbo.DimSales			$\checkmark$
Heln Save Pr	niect	< Back	Next >	Can	cel
Help Save Pr	oject	< <u>B</u> ack	Next >	Can	cei

The objects that exist in both databases are displayed in the  ${\bf On}~{\bf Source}~{\bf and}~{\bf Target}$  window.

The objects that exist in either source or target database are displayed in **On Source Only** and **On Target Only** window correspondingly.

You need to check the objects to be synchronized.

#### < Previous step

<u>Next step ></u>

See also: Setting database options Setting compare options Select objects for compare Renamed objects

### 2.3.4 Renamed objects

At this step you can see the list of objects which might have been renamed. This list includes similar objects with different names in source and target databases.

🤹 Compare Project Wizard -[D:\CurrentTest\Ms Db Comprer\EMStest.scp] — 🗆						
Compare Project Wizard						
Choose the objects to be	treated as renamed.					
	Renamed objects					
	Name in Source	Name in Target				
	Er Tables (2)		1			
52	bo.DimAccount	dbo.DimAccountTotal	1			
	bo.DimSalesReason	dbo.DimSales	1			
DB						
Comparer						
for						
SQL Server						
	Devene Oblight Definition	Transf Ohlart Deficition				
	CDRAME MARLE disc Dischargements (					
	Account Key int IDENTITY (1 1) NOT NUL	A CREATE TABLE dbo.DIMACCountiotal (				
	ParentAccountKey int NULL.	ParentAccountKey int NULL.	-			
	AccountCodeAlternateKey int NULL,	AccountCodeAlternateKey int NULL,				
	ParentAccountCodeAlternateKey int NUL	ParentAccountCodeAlternateKey int NU	L			
	AccountDescription nvarchar(50) COLLA	AccountDescription nvarchar(50) COLL	A			
	AccountType nvarchar(50) COLLATE SQL_	AccountType nvarchar(50) COLLATE SQL	_			
	Operator nvarchar(50) COLLATE SQL Lat	Operator nvarchar(50) COLLATE SQL Lat	t			
	ValueTure nuarchar(50) COLLATE SOL La	ValueTune nyarobar (50) COLLATE SOL La	2			
	CustomMemberOptions nvarchar(200) COL	CustomMemberOptions nvarchar(200) COL	L			
	CONSTRAINT PK DimAccount PRIMARY KEY	CONSTRAINT PK DimAccount PRIMARY KEY				
	WITH (	WITH (				
	PAD_INDEX = OFF, IGNORE_DUP_KEY =	<pre> PAD_INDEX = OFF, IGNORE_DUP_KEY = </pre>	= ~			
	< >	< >	+			
Help Save Pro	aject	< <u>B</u> ack Cancel				

The script for the selected objects is displayed in the bottom part of the window.

Click the **Compare** button to start the database comparison process.

After the comparison has finished, the project is loaded in DB Comparer automatically and you can start <u>working</u> with it.

<Previous step

See also: Setting database options Setting compare options Select objects for compare Renamed objects

### 2.4 Viewing Summary Info

After you have <u>created/opened</u> a project, the selected databases/schemas are analyzed for differences. The **Progress** window displays the total progress of the comparison process and the sequence of operations performed by the utility appears.

Progress				
Analyzing objects: UDFs				
17 %				
<pre>[12:30:11] - Connecting to source database [12:30:11] - Connecting to target database [12:30:11] - Analyzing objects: Tables [12:30:14] - Analyzing objects: Procedures [12:30:24] - Analyzing objects: UDFs [12:30:24] - Analyzing objects: UDFs</pre>				
Close progress dialog after successful completion				

**Note:** The comparing process cannot be stopped if <u>renamed objects</u> were found.

If the **Show summary after comparing** option is selected in the <u>Confirmations</u> section of the <u>Environment Options</u> dialog, the **Summary Info** window appears upon completion of the comparing process. This window contains information concerning the differences between the compared databases/schemas.

Summary Info		
General information:		
<ul> <li>Total count</li> </ul>	298	
<ul> <li>Different count</li> </ul>	5	
<ul> <li>Unique master</li> </ul>	64	
<ul> <li>Unique target</li> </ul>	221	
<ul> <li>Identical count</li> </ul>	8	
Information by types of objects:		_
Tables	total: 180, different: 4, master: 23, target: 153, equal: 0	=
Views	total: 36, different: 0, master: 4, target: 32, equal: 0	
Procedures	total: 16, different: 0, master: 6, target: 10, equal: 0	
UDFs	total: 4, different: 0, master: 3, target: 1, equal: 0	
UDTs	total: 13, different: 0, master: 4, target: 7, equal: 2	
Users	total: 18, different: 1, master: 12, target: 4, equal: 1	
Defaults	total: 5, different: 0, master: 1, target: 2, equal: 2	
Rules	total: 2, different: 0, master: 0, target: 0, equal: 2	
Schemas	total: 6, different: 0, master: 1, target: 4, equal: 1	
<ul> <li>XML Schema Collections</li> </ul>	total: 2, different: 0, master: 1, target: 1, equal: 0	
Synonyms	total: 3, different: 0, master: 2, target: 1, equal: 0	Ŧ
Do not show summary		

To disable this window for the future projects, check the  $\blacksquare$  Do not show summary option.

### See also:

35

<u>Creating Project</u> <u>Opening / Saving Project</u> <u>Compare Project Wizard</u>


# 3 Working with project

Having <u>created</u> or <u>opened</u> a project, you see the **Project window**.

By default, the Project window contains the <u>Database Tree</u>, <u>Source and Target Object</u> <u>Definitions</u>, <u>Modification Scripts</u> and <u>Information</u> windows.

										-
👰 Database Com	parer for SQL Server - [P	roject -[EMStest]*]							- 0	×
Project Edit	View Options Windo	ows <u>H</u> elp							-	a ×
: E 💕 🔒 🖕	1X 6 6 2 2	А, :Ба				a 📜 i 🍁 🔍 😫 📜				
Project Options	C Full <u>R</u> ecompare	/iew • Reports •	k R	Оре	en All Scrip	pts in SQL Script Editor 🛛 🔀 🕨 🕴 💠 🛧	+ *	ayout (n	one) 🔹 🔒 🗙	
Database Tree					Modificati	ion scripts				2
AdventureWorksDW	Adv	entureWorks_dev	^	1	Adventu	reWorksDW -> AdventureWorks_dev Adv	ventureWorks_	_dev -> A	dventureWorksDW	port
	dbo FactCallCenterdoo     dbo FactCallCenterdoo     dbo FactCarrency/dbo     dbo factFinance dbo     dbo factFinance dbo     dbo factFinance dbo     dbo factFinance dbo     dbo factSalesdoo     dbo factSalesdoo	FactCallCenter FactFinance FactInternetSales FactInternetSalesReas FactProductInventory FactSalesDuata FactSalesDuata FactSalesDuata		1		ALTER TABLE dbo.FactFinance DROP CONSTRAINT FK_FactFinance_DimAc GO ALTER TABLE dbo.FactFinance_DimAcc REFERENCES dbo.DimAccount (AccountKe ON UPDATE NO ACTION ON DELETE NO ACTION GO GRANT NSERT NO dbo.FactFinance TO (public) GO GRANT SELECT ON dbo.FactFinance TO (public) GO	ccount count FOREIGN sy)	I KEY (A	ccountKey)	8
- +-* □*	dbo.msmreports dbo.	.msmreports		<		30				
⊕ 🛃 User ⊕ 🖬 User	dbo.sysdiagrams dbo. s\Roles (1) Text Catalogs (1)	sysdiagrams			Source O	bject Definition CREATE TABLE dbo.FactFinan FinanceKey <u>int</u> IDENTITY(	ce ( 1, 1) NOT	□ ₽ × ^	Target Object Definition CREATE TABLE dbo.FactFinance ( FinanceKey int IDENTITY(1, 1) NOT NUL	
dbo.FactFinance [dbo	p.FactFinance] Different			] [	3	DateKey int NOT NULL,		11	DateKey int NOT NULL,	
Name	Source	Target	^		5	DepartmentGroupKey int Nor N ScenarioKey int NOT NULL	OT NULL,	*	DepartmentGroupKey int NOT NULL, ScenarioKey int NOT NULL,	
Description					7	AccountKey int NOT NULL,			AccountKey int NOT NULL,	
File Group	PRIMARY	PRIMARY			9	Date datetime NULL			Date datetime NULL.	
Partition Column			_		10	CONSTRAINT FactFinance c	k CHECK		CONSTRAINT FactFinance ck CHECK ([Dat	
Store text in data	No	No	_		11	CONSTRAINT FK_FactFinanc	e_DimAcco		CONSTRAINT FK_FactFinance_DimAccount	
Use table lock on	No	No	_		12	REFERENCES dbo.DimAccoun	t (Accour		REFERENCES dbo.DimAccountTotal (Accou	
Text length limit in	0	0	_		13	ON UPDATE NO ACTION			ON UPDATE NO ACTION	
Compression					14	ON DELETE NO ACTION,		*	ON DELETE NO ACTION,	1
Grants	GRANT INSERT (public),		~		<		>		< >	
D:\CurrentTest\Ms Db	Comprer\EMStest.scp					Modified				
Project -[EMStest]*	SQL Script Editor -[EMS	test]* tester2\sql2017 A	Adventu	reW	/orks_dev					

When working with your project, you are provided with a powerful project toolbar which is available at the top of the project window.

Open project in Project Wizard.

Perform a full recompare

#### View

- Show/hide Identical node in the Database Tree
- Choose the way objects should be grouped
- Show/hide All objects node in the Database Tree

#### Reports

The same reports are available on the **Reports** pane on the right side.

- View Summary Info Report
- View <u>Summary Info with Chart Report</u>
- View <u>Detailed Report</u>

- Provide the selected scripts in <u>SQL Script Editor</u>
- Open all scripts in SQL Script Editor
- Execute selected scripts
- Execute all scripts

## Layout

Use this drop-down list to specify a name for current positional layout of the windows. If necessary, you can click the **Save Layout** toolbar button to save the layout for future use, or the **Remove Layout** toolbar button if you do not need the current layout any longer.

# See also:

Managing projects SQL Script editor Reports management DB Comparer options Console application

# 3.1 Browsing database tree

The **Database Tree** contains the objects of both databases and is situated on the left (by default). It displays objects of both (source and target) databases side by side.

Database Tree consists of four major groups:

Different (objects are to be modified to become identical with the same objects in the source/target databases)

Only Source (objects that exist in the source database, but do not exist in the target database)

Only target (objects that exist in the target database, but do not exist in the source database)

Identical (objects in the source database coincide with the ones in the target database)

Numbers in brackets next to the captions of the group nodes denote the amount of objects inside each group.

The objects which are identical in both databases are displayed in black (by default). You can customize all the colors using the <u>Colors</u> section of the <u>Environment Options</u> dialog.

If **Forward Navigation** is enabled within the Project Options section of the <u>Environment</u> <u>Options</u> dialog, upon selecting an element in the Database Tree the corresponding entry will be selected in the <u>Modification scripts</u> window.

**Note:** You can expand and collapse lists of objects quickly using the context menu. Moreover, the context menu of the **DB Tree** allows you to open the appropriate modification scripts in <u>SQL Script Editor</u>.



To refresh the **Database Tree**, use the corresponding **Refresh** button on the toolbar or press *Ctrl+F5*. To refresh a selected group of objects only, right-click the node and select the corresponding context menu item (e.g. *Refresh tables* if you want to refresh the **Tables** group).

The **context menu** of the <u>DB Tree</u> allows you to:

- refresh all objects of the type (depending on the current selection in <u>DB Tree</u>);
- open a simple printing report of the tree;
- expand/collapse the selected node in the tree;
- enable Forward Navigation for the project.



# See also:

Viewing Summary Info Viewing Objects Definition Information window Working with Modification Scripts Switching windows

# 3.2 Viewing objects definition

The **Source Object Definition** and the **Target Object Definition** windows contain the DDL structure (Data Definition Language) of the source and target database objects. This area is read-only, hence you cannot modify object definitions using **Object Definition** windows.

For your convenience visual representation of definition differences is implemented: you can see the corresponding DDL differences highlighted in both **Object Definition** windows. If necessary, you can customize the colors using the <u>Colors</u> section of the <u>Environment</u> <u>Options</u> dialog.



**Note:** You can show/hide these windows using the **View | Source Object Definition** and the **View | Target Object Definition** main menu items.

Use the arrow buttons to quickly get to the Next\Previous or First\Last difference.

## Popup menu



Use **Synchronization** to synchronize scrolling of the contents in both windows (i.e. when you scroll through one DDL text, the other scroll bar moves synchronously).

Use **Copy Object Definition** to copy the DDL displayed within the area to Windows clipboard.

See also: Viewing Summary Info Browsing Database Tree Information window Working with Modification Scripts Switching windows

# **3.3** Information window

43

The **Information** window displays detailed information on the database objects being compared.

In	Information					
N	ame	Master	*			
٠	Tables	total: 180, different: 4, master: 23, target:				
•	Views	total: 36, different: 0, master: 4, target: 32,				
•	Procedures					
•	UDFs	total: 4, different: 0, master: 3, target: 1,	=			
•	UDTs	total: 13, different: 0, master: 4, target: 7,	-			
•	Users	total: 18, different: 1, master: 12, target: 4,				
•	Defaults	total: 5, different: 0, master: 1, target: 2,				
•	Rules	total: 2, different: 0, master: 0, target: 0,				
•	Schemas	total: 6, different: 0, master: 1, target: 4,				
•	XML Schema Collections	total: 2, different: 0, master: 1, target: 1,				
•	Synonyms	total: 3, different: 0, master: 2, target: 1,				
•	Aggregates	total: 1, different: 0, master: 1, target: 0,	÷			

Depending on the current selection in <u>DB Tree</u>, the **Information** window either lists the total count of different objects in the source and the target database (if a group of objects is selected in <u>DB Tree</u>) or contains the complete list of properties of the source object as compared to the corresponding object in the target database (if a particular object is selected in <u>DB Tree</u>).

db	dbo.Department [dbo.Department] Different					
Na	ame	Master	Target			
٠	Comment	Lookup table				
٠	File Group	PRIMARY	PRIMARY			
٠	Partition Column					

If an object property in the source database /schema differs from an object property in the target database /schema, it is highlighted (red by default) in the **Information** window.

Use the 🛹 button to hide identical objects.

See also: Viewing Summary Info Browsing Database Tree Viewing Objects Definition Working with Modification Scripts Switching windows

# 3.4 Working with modification scripts

The **Modification scripts** window displays differences between the database objects as a row of modification scripts.

To change the direction of synchronization switch between **Source to Target** and **Target to Source** tabs of the **Modification scripts** window.

### Script type

45

According to the kind of difference between objects in the Source and the Target databases, DB Comparer generates the following modification scripts:

ALTER script: if there are different objects with the same name in the Source and the Target databases, script of this type is generated to eliminate the differences;
 CREATE/ADD script: if an object exists in the Source database and it does not exist in the Target database, script of this type is generated to create the object in the Target database;

DROP script: if an object exists in the Target database and it does not exist in the Source database, script of this type is generated to drop the object in the Target database.

**Note:** Synchronization is always performed in one direction (i.e. in one database) depending on the tab selected.

**Note:** To change the height of the script entries, use the **List of modify scripts** group of options available within the <u>Preferences</u> section of the <u>Environment Options</u> dialog.

**Note:** multiple selection of script entries is possible with the *Ctrl* and *Shift* keys used.

Modific	Modification scripts								
Adven	tureWorksDW -> AdventureWorks_dev AdventureW	/orks	_dev -> AdventureWorksDW						
÷-+	DROP USER dbo GO				^				
4 <b>7</b> 4	CREATE USER dbo FOR LOGIN [sa] WITH DEFAULT_SCHEMA = dbo GO								
<del>4</del> 74	ALTER TABLE dbo.msmreports DROP CONSTRAINT UQ_msmrepor_7EE4677B03BEA9BA GO								
÷-+	EXEC sp_rename N'dbo.DimAccountTotal', N'DimAccount', 'OBJECT' GO								
<b>*</b> *	EXEC sp_rename N'dbo.DimSales', N'DimSalesReaso GO	n', '0	BJECT Find in DB Tree						
¢	CREATE TABLE do. ProspectiveBuyer ( ProspectiveBuyerKey int IDENTITY(1, 1) NOT NULL ProspectAternateKey int IDENTITY(1, 1) NOT NULL FrospectAternateKey invarchar(15) COLLATE SQL_Latin1_Ge MiddleName nvarchar(50) COLLATE SQL_Latin1_Ge BirthDate datetime NULL, MaritalStatus nchar(1) COLLATE SQL_Latin1_Gent Gender nvarchar(10) COLLATE SQL_Latin1_Gent EmailAddress nvarchar(50) COLLATE SQL_Latin1_Gent SET AUDITED_IDENTIFIER ON GO — Converts the specified integer (which should he down of the specified integer)		Execute Selected Scripts Execute All Scripts Open Selected Scripts in SQL Script Editor Open All Scripts in SQL Script Editor Move Script First Move Script Up Move Script Down Move Script Last						
÷-*	<ul> <li>Converts the specified integer (which should be </li> <li>into a two character string, zero filling from the le</li> <li>if the number is &lt; 10.</li> </ul>	Ē	Copy Ctrl+C						
<	CREATE FUNCTION Idbol.fudfTwoDiaitZeroFill (@nur	mber	int)	>	×				

The **context menu** allows you to:

- find the object (the one used in the selected script) in <u>DB Tree;</u>
- **\$**<u>execute</u> the selected modification script(s);
- <u>execute</u> all modification scripts of the project;
- Provide the selected modification script(s) in <u>SQL Script Editor</u>;
- ropen all modification scripts of the project in <u>SQL Script Editor;</u>
- Copy the text of the selected script(s) to Windows clipboard.

# See also:

<u>Viewing Summary Info</u> <u>Browsing Database Tree</u> <u>Viewing Objects Definition</u> <u>Information window</u> <u>Switching windows</u>

# 3.5 Switching windows

The **Windows Toolbar** allows you to switch between child windows easily, like in Windows Task Bar.

To activate the window you need, simply click one of the window buttons.

C:\DBComparerProjects\MSProject1.scp Project [MSProject1] | Project [Project1] | SQL Script Editor [Project1]

See also: Viewing Summary Info Browsing Database Tree Viewing Objects Definition

Working with Modification Scripts

Information window

© 1999-2025 EMS Software Development



# 4 SQL Script editor

**SQL Script Editor** allows you to edit and execute SQL scripts for modifying compared databases.

How to open SQL Script Editor

- Use **Open all scripts in SQL Script Editor in the** <u>DB Tree</u> popup menu or on the toolbar.
- Double-click the modification script in the list or select the corresponding item of the context menu.
- Use Edit --> New SQL Editor from the main menu.

# How to work with the script

The **Database** combo-box allows you to switch source/target databases/schemas where the script is to be executed.

Use 🗖 Save to file button to save the current script.

Use **b** Load from file button to load the script from \*.sql file.

Press the **<b>Execute** toolbar button (or *F9*) to execute the script.

For your convenience the *syntax highlight, code completion* and a number of other features are implemented. If necessary, you can enable/disable or customize most of SQL Script Editor features using the <u>Editor Options</u> dialog.

You can set the delay for code completion within the <u>Quick code</u> section or manually activate the completion list using the *Ctrl+Space* shortcut.



The **context menu** of SQL Script Editor area contains most of the standard textprocessing functions (*Cut*, *Copy*, *Paste*, *Select All*) and specific functions for working with the script:

- the *Quick Code* submenu allows you to select a character, to toggle comments, to change case of currently selected text and to manage indents;
- saving and loading options;
- numerical bookmarks to make navigation within the script easier. Use the Toggle
   Bookmarks context menu item to select a number to label the current code line. If you want to jump to a bookmark, select the Goto Bookmarks context menu item and pick one of the existing bookmarks within the submenu;
- the Go to Line Number item allows you to jump to the specified line;
- you can drop marker (F2), collect marker (ESC) or swap markers (last dropped marker will be moved to the current cursor position, and the cursor will be set to the initial marker position);

• implementation of the Find Text and the Replace Text dialogs contributes to more efficient work with the SQL code.

The **Log** area displays errors and messages on script execution. You can toggle displaying of errors and **A** warnings with the corresponding buttons.



# See also:

Managing projects Working with project Reports management DB Comparer options Console application



# 5 Reports management

**DB Comparer for SQL Server** provides <u>Report Designer</u> for creating powerful reports.

By default, the **Reports** panel is located on the right side of the project window. It has some <u>sample reports</u> which cannot be edited. Using its toolbar buttons you can create, delete, view and edit custom reports.

- <u>Report Designer</u>
- <u>Sample reports</u>



# See also:

Managing projects Working with project SQL Script editor DB Comparer options Console application

# 5.1 Report designer

54

**Report Designer** allows you to create and edit reports. This tool is opened when you create a report in the **Reports** window or select any of the existing reports for editing. For your convenience there are several <u>sample reports</u> available.

This module is provided by FastReport (<u>http://www.fast-report.com</u>) and has its own help system. Press **F1** key in the **Report Designer** to call the **FastReport** help.

Please find the instructions on how to create a simple report in **Report Designer** below:

# **Adding bands**

- proceed to the Page1 tab of Report Designer;
- select the 
   Insert Band component on the toolbar (on the left);
- select the band to be added to the report;
- click within the working area the corresponding element appears in the area;
- set element properties within the **Properties Inspector**.

**Note:** The **Properties Inspector** panel that allows you to edit report object properties can be shown/hidden by pressing the **F11** key.

🖗 F	FastRe	eport - Report1.fr3		
File	Ed	it Report View He	)	
	) 🞽	🗟 🗋 🛅 🚵	💵 🔊 🖉 🖾 🎽 🏥 🖾 🖓 🍽 🖾 🖄 🗰 🏥 100% 🗸	
		- Tr Arial	- 10 - B I U   Tr A 🕸 ≫   ≣ ≣ ≣   IIII III III	
k	/Co	de (Data) Page 1 (Dialog	age1	
Ð	F	Report	Data Variables / Eurotion	
Q	-	🕖 Data		
TI		Page 1	🗖 🔚 DifferenceObject	s
1			- I Object	
⊒+⊑		Report Title		
4		Report Summary	Different Proper	rties List
		Page Header	m into militaria int	
Α		Page Footer	- I Script	
		Header	DijectProperties	i
-		Footer	- I Source Value	
Σ		Master Data	Target Value	
		Detail Data	E SummaryInfo	
43		Subdetail Data	Element	
Ť		Data 4th level	Count	
		Data 5th level		
		Data 6th level	- Different	
	[{≣	Group Header	a loentical	
		Group Footer		
		Child		
		Column Header		
		Column Footer		
		Overlay		
		Vertical bands	- III Create caption	
Cent	imeter	rs 0,24; 10,87	Page 1	

# Adding report data

- proceed to the **Data** tab within the panel on the right side of the window;
- pick an element within the **Data** tree and drag it to the working area;
- add all necessary elements one by one using drag-and-drop operation for each of them.



#### Viewing the report

To preview the newly created report, select the **Project | Preview** main menu item or use the corresponding  $\square$  **Preview** toolbar button. You can also use the *Ctrl+P* shortcut for the same purpose. This mode allows you to view, edit and print the result report.

To print the report, use the report toolbar button or the corresponding context menu item.

6	keport1.fr3	100% - 🔍 🔲 🗐 🗐 🕰		
		EMS DB Cor	mparer: DEMO Re	port
I	employees	Table	TestDB	Unique
I	department	Table	TestDB	Unique
I	address	Table	TestDB	Unique
I	account	Table	TestDB	Unique
I	tbltest2	Table	TestDB	Unique ≡
I	tbltest1	Table	TestDB	Unique
I	mymreports	Table	TestDB	Unique
I	UserList	Table	TestDB	Unique
I	Employees	Table	TestDB	Unique
I	DevicesList	Table	TestDB	Unique
I	Department	Table	TestDB	Unique
I	Dealers	Table	TestDB	Unique
I	DB_Names	Table	TestDB	Unique
I	DB_List	Table	TestDB	Unique
I	DB_Hosts_List	Table	TestDB	Unique
I	Customers2007	Table	TestDB	Unique
I	Countries	Table	TestDB	Unique
-				• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
P	age 1 of 1			li.

# Saving the report

When all report parameters are set, you can save the report to an external \*.fr3 file on your local machine or in a machine in the LAN.

To save the report, select the Project | Save main menu item or use the corresponding

**Save Report** toolbar button. You can also use the *Ctrl+S* shortcut for the same purpose.

# 5.2 Sample reports

59

There are several sample reports implemented in <u>Report Designer</u>: Detailed Info, Summary Info with Chart, Summary Info.

Sample reports can be accessed from the utility toolbar or from the **Reports** panel on the right side.



# **Detailed info**

This sample report provides you with the complete list of compared database objects with their DDL, properties and their values.

🖗 Detailed Info								
a 💕 🖬 🗛 🔍	100% - 🔍 🔲 🔳 🔝 🖓 🎽 🖌	∢ 33 ▶ ▶	Close					
Script:	CREATE NONCLUSTERED INDEX [employee( ([EmpNo]) WITH ( PAD_INDEX = OFF, DROP_EXISTING = OFF, STATISTICS_NORECOMPUTE = OFF, SORT_IN_TEMPDB = OFF, ONLINE = OFF, ALLOW_ROW_LOCKS = ON, ALLOW_PAGE_LOCKS = ON) ON [PRIMARY] GO	Orders] ON [dbo].[Ord	lers]					
ldentical ×	Property Name Name	Master Value employeeOrders	Target Value					
×	Comment							
×	Primary	No						
×	Unique	No						
*	Fields	EmpNo						
*	File Group	PRIMARY						
×	Fill Factor	0						
*	Clustered	No						
×	Ignore Duplicate	No						
×	Recompute Statistic	No						
dbo.Orde Index, Unique Script:	dbo.Orders.OrdersEmpNo         Index, Unique Master         Script:       CREATE NONCLUSTERED INDEX [OrdersEmpNo] ON [dbo].[Orders] ([EmpNo]) WITH ( PAD_INDEX = OFF, DROP_EXISTING = OFF, STATISTICS_NORECOMPUTE = OFF, STATISTICS_NORECOMPUTE = OFF, ONLINE = OFF, ONLINE = OFF, ALLOW_PAGE_LOCKS = ON, ALLOW_PAGE_LOCKS = ON) ON [RIMARY] GO							
Page 33 of 35				1.				

# **Summary Info With Info Chart**

Use this sample report to get graphical summary info about the compared databases.



#### Summary Info

The result of this report is a table with the summary numeric information about compared databases.

ElementDifferentOnly MasterOnly TargetIdenticalTotalTables4231530180Views0432036Procedures0610016UDFs03104UDTs047213Users1124118Defaults01225Rules01416XML Schema Collections01102Synonyms02103Aggregates01102Assemblies0213Partition Schemas0220Assemblies02103Partition Schemas02103Partition Schemas02204	Summa	ry Inf	Master da Target dat Generated	tabase: DemoDB tabase: TestDB 1: 09.06.2012 30.12	.1899 15:44:48	
Tables       4       23       153       0       180         Views       0       4       32       0       36         Procedures       0       6       10       0       16         UDFs       0       3       1       0       4         UDTs       0       4       7       2       13         Users       1       12       4       1       18         Defaults       0       1       12       4       1       18         Defaults       0       1       12       4       1       18         Defaults       0       1       2       2       5         Rules       0       0       2       2       2         Schemas       0       1       4       1       6         XML Schema Collections       0       1       1       0       2         Synonyms       0       2       1       0       3         Aggregates       0       1       1       0       2         Assemblies       0       2       1       0       3         Parition Schemas       0	Element	Different	Only Master	Only Target	Identical	Total
Views       0       4       32       0       36         Procedures       0       6       10       0       16         UDFs       0       3       1       0       4         UDTs       0       4       7       2       13         Users       1       12       4       1       18         Defaults       0       1       2       2       5         Rules       0       0       1       2       2       2         Schemas       0       1       4       1       6         XML Schema Collections       0       1       1       0       2         Synonyms       0       2       1       0       3         Aggregates       0       1       1       0       2         Synonyms       2       1       0       3       3         Aggregates       0       1       1       0       2         Assemblies       2       1       0       3       3         Partition Functions       1       2       2       0       3         Partition Schemas       2       2	Tables	4	23	153	0	180
Procedures       0       6       10       0       16         UDFs       0       3       1       0       4         UDTs       0       4       7       2       13         Users       1       12       4       1       18         Defaults       0       1       2       2       5         Rules       0       0       0       2       2         Schemas       0       1       4       1       6         XML Schema Collections       0       1       1       0       2         Synonyms       0       2       1       0       3         Aggregates       0       1       1       0       2         Assemblies       0       2       1       0       3         Partition Functions       0       1       2       3       3         Partition Schemas       0       2       2       0       4	Views	0	4	32	Ő	36
UDFs       0       3       1       0       4         UDTs       0       4       7       2       13         Users       1       12       4       1       18         Defaults       0       1       2       2       5         Rules       0       0       0       2       2         Schemas       0       1       4       1       6         XML Schema Collections       0       1       1       0       2         Synonyms       0       2       1       0       3         Aggregates       0       1       1       0       2         Assemblies       0       2       1       0       3         Partition Functions       0       1       2       0       3         Partition Schemas       0       2       2       0       4	Procedures	0	6	10	0	16
UDTs       0       4       7       2       13         Users       1       12       4       1       18         Defaults       0       1       2       2       5         Rules       0       0       0       2       2         Schemas       0       1       4       1       6         XML Schema Collections       0       1       4       1       6         Synonyms       0       2       1       0       2       2         Synonyms       0       2       1       0       3       3         Aggregates       0       1       1       0       2       4         DDL Triggers       0       1       1       0       3       3         Partition Functions       0       1       2       0       3         Partition Schemas       0       2       2       0       4	UDFs	0	3	1	0	4
Users       1       12       4       1       18         Defaults       0       1       2       2       5         Rules       0       0       0       2       2         Schemas       0       1       4       1       6         XML Schema Collections       0       1       4       1       6         Synonyms       0       2       1       0       2         Sqgregates       0       1       0       0       1         DDL Triggers       0       2       1       0       2         Assemblies       0       2       1       0       3         Partition Functions       0       1       2       0       3         Partition Schemas       0       2       2       0       4	UDTs	0	4	7	2	13
Defaults         0         1         2         2         5           Rules         0         0         0         2         2           Schemas         0         1         4         1         6           XML Schema Collections         0         1         1         0         2           Synonyms         0         2         1         0         3           Aggregates         0         1         0         0         1           DDL Triggers         0         1         1         0         2           Assemblies         0         2         1         0         3           Partition Functions         0         1         2         0         3           Partition Schemas         0         2         2         0         4	Users	1	12	4	1	18
Rules         0         0         0         2         2           Schemas         0         1         4         1         6           XML Schema Collections         0         1         1         0         2           Synonyms         0         2         1         0         3           Aggregates         0         1         1         0         2           DDL Triggers         0         1         1         0         2           Assemblies         0         2         1         0         3           Partition Functions         0         1         2         3           Partition Schemas         0         2         2         0         4	Defaults	0	1	2	2	5
Schemas         0         1         4         1         6           XML Schema Collections         0         1         1         0         2           Synonyms         0         2         1         0         3           Aggregates         0         1         0         0         1           DDL Triggers         0         1         1         0         2           Assemblies         0         2         1         0         3           Partition Functions         0         1         2         0         3           Partition Schemas         0         2         2         0         4	Rules	0	0	0	2	2
XML Schema Collections         0         1         1         0         2           Synonyms         0         2         1         0         3           Aggregates         0         1         0         0         1           DDL Triggers         0         1         1         0         2           Assemblies         0         2         1         0         3           Partition Functions         0         1         2         0         3           Partition Schemas         0         2         2         0         4	Schemas	0	1	4	1	6
Synonyms         0         2         1         0         3           Aggregates         0         1         0         0         1           DDL Triggers         0         1         1         0         2           Assemblies         0         2         1         0         3           Partition Functions         0         1         2         0         3           Partition Schemas         0         2         2         0         4	XML Schema Collections	0	1	1	0	2
Aggregates         0         1         0         0         1           DDL Triggers         0         1         1         0         2           Assemblies         0         2         1         0         3           Partition Functions         0         1         2         0         3           Partition Schemas         0         2         2         0         4	Synonyms	0	2	1	0	3
DDL Triggers         0         1         1         0         2           Assemblies         0         2         1         0         3           Partition Functions         0         1         2         0         3           Partition Schemas         0         2         2         0         4	Aggregates	0	1	0	0	1
Assemblies         0         2         1         0         3           Partition Functions         0         1         2         0         3           Partition Schemas         0         2         2         0         4	DDL Triggers	0	1	1	0	2
Partition Functions01203Partition Schemas02204Turble5642040200	Assemblies	0	2	1	0	3
Partition Schemas         0         2         2         0         4           Table         5         64         904         9         909	Partition Functions	0	1	2	0	3
T-1-1 5 64 004 0 000	Partition Schemas	0	2	2	0	4
lotal: 5 64 221 8 298	Total:	5	64	221	8	298



# 6 DB Comparer options

DB Comparer for SQL Server provides full customization of the program interface, windows behavior, various options of all tools and more. This chapter informs you how to use these options.

## **Environment Options**

General options: environment style, confirmations, project options, compare options, fonts, colors and more.

Editor Options Customizing of the <u>SQL editing tool.</u>

# Keyboard Templates

Managing keyboard templates for quicker typing regularly used expressions in <u>SQL editor</u>.

# Selecting program language

## See also:

Managing projects Working with project SQL Script editor Reports management Console application

# 6.1 Environment options

64

**Environment Options** allow you to customize general options of the DB Comparer application.

To open the **Environment Options** window, select the **Options | Environment Options...** main menu item, or use the **beavironment Options** button on the main toolbar.



Preferences Confirmations Compare Options Languages Colors

The **Default** button located at the bottom of the **Environment Options** form can be used to set option values to defaults.

## See also:

Editor Options Keyboard Templates

# 6.1.1 Preferences

### Schema

Select the main color theme for the application: Light, Blue or Dark.

## General

### Save passwords into project file

If this option is checked, database connection passwords are saved in project files.

#### Show object related scripts only

If this option is checked then the script of only selected in <u>DB Tree</u> object is displayed in the <u>Modification scripts</u> window.

#### Hide identical objects

This option can be used to hide the identical objects in <u>DB Tree</u>. It makes navigation easier and may increase the navigation speed.

#### Load connection info for new projects

This option can be used to insert the latest used login automatically when <u>creating a new</u> <u>project</u>.

# Load last password for new projects

This option can be used to insert the latest used password automatically when <u>creating a</u> <u>new project</u>.

# Group by schemas

Group compared objects in the DB tree by schemas

## **Reports directory**

Use the B **Explorer** button to specify the directory where DB Comparer <u>reports</u> will be stored by default.

	Ficielles						
<ul> <li>Confirmations</li> <li>Compare Options</li> <li>Languages</li> <li>Colors</li> </ul>	Schema       Blue       (* restart required)         Project options       Show object related scripts only         Hide identical objects       Load connection info for new projects         Load last password for new projects       Group by schemas         Save passwords into project file       State passwords into project file						
	List of modified scripts       Row auto height       Max row line count       10       Fonts       Application font       The Arial						
	Application font size       8       Sample Text 12345						
	Timeouts Connection timeout 15 • sec Command timeout 30 • sec						

## List of modified scripts

## **Row auto height**

If this option is selected, script row height in the <u>Modification Scripts</u> area is adjusted to the content automatically.

#### Max row line count

Defines the maximum number of lines displayed in each script row in the <u>Modification</u> <u>Scripts</u> area.

### Fonts

#### Application font

Defines the font used by DB Comparer for SQL Server. Select the font name from the drop-down list of available system fonts.

#### **Application font size**

Defines the font size used by DB Comparer for SQL Server. Type in or use the spin editor to specify the required value.

The box below displays the sample text with the selected font applied.

### **Timeouts**

## **Connection timeout**

Set the limit for connection waiting.

#### **Command timeout**

Set the limit to wait for command execution.

## See also:

<u>Confirmations</u> <u>Compare Options</u> <u>Languages</u> <u>Colors</u>

# 6.1.2 Confirmations

#### Confirm exit from DB Comparer for SQL Server

If this option is set, you are prompted for confirmation each time when you exit the application.

## Recompare object after executing the script

The process of re-comparing objects starts automatically right after execution of the modification script.

#### Autosave project before closing

Disables/enables a confirmation window that appears upon closing the project. If the option is checked, modifications made in the project are saved automatically.

#### Show summary after comparing

Toggles displaying the <u>Summary Info</u> window that appears after the comparison process is finished.



# Show message after successfully executed script

Toggles the Script executed successfully message upon successful script execution.

## Close progress dialog after successful completion

If this option is selected, the project dialog is closed automatically when the operation is completed successfully.

#### Confirm close project

If this option is set, you are prompted for confirmation each time when you exit the project.

See also: <u>Preferences</u> <u>Compare Options</u> <u>Languages</u> <u>Colors</u>

# 6.1.3 Compare options

Set specific parameters of comparison for each type of database objects.

### **Compare options**

Here you can specify whether to perform *Full database* or *Schema to schema* comparing. In the latter case select *Source* and *Target* schemas by clicking the ellipsis button of the corresponding controls.

Select an object type in the **object tree**, set a flag to include the object type into the comparison process and define **Compare properties** in the corresponding group within the **Compare Options** tab.

The **Script generation** group allows you to specify whether a specific type of script ( *CREATE*, *ALTER*, *DROP*) should be generated for objects of the selected type.

The **Select All**, **Unselect All** and **Invert Selection** buttons are implemented to make options selection easier.

Preferences	Compare Options			
Confirmations	Compare options			
Compare Options	Full datababase comparing		<ul> <li>Schema to schema</li> </ul>	
E Languages	Source Schema		Target Schema	
Colora			***	
	Case sensitive comparing		Analyze renamed objects	
	Add comments to generated scrip	ot	Show objects list	
	Ignore autogenerated primary key	names	Ignore file group	
			<b>^</b>	
	Database object C	ompa 🔨	Schemas Compare Options	
	🖃 🔂 Schemas	$\checkmark$	Compare Options Filter Options	
	Tables		Script generation	
	Columns		Concrete create scrint	
	Chooka		Generate alter script	
			Generate drop script	
	Triogers		Compare properties	
	E Views			
	Indices		Owner (compare only)	
	7 Triggers		Grants	
	* Procedures			
	UDFs			
	UDTs			
	Sequences			
	Svnonvms			

## Case sensitive comparing

Enable this option to make the comparing process case sensitive.

## **Ignore autogenerated primary key names**

Enable this option to consider automatically generated source primary key name and target one to be identical.

# **Ignore file groups**

Ignores FILEGROUP clauses on tables and keys when comparing and synchronizing databases.

## Analyze renamed objects

This option enables/disables comparing databases object which might have been renamed.

#### Show objects list

If this option is checked the list of all objects is displayed on the next step. If there is no need to check the list of retrieved objects you can uncheck this option to speed up comparison process.

#### Add comments to generated script

Use this option to toggle comments in modification script.

You can also set filtering criteria for objects to be compared. Use the **Filter options** tab for that purpose. For details see <u>Setting compare options</u>.

## See also:

Preferences Confirmations Languages Colors

# 6.1.4 Languages

You can create your own \*. Ing files similar to those available in the %program\_directory% \Languages folder, add them to the list of available languages and set the new language as the program interface language.

# **Default directory**

Use the blue button to specify the directory where the \*.*lng* files are to be stored by default.

#### Choose program language

Use the drop-down list of available languages to select the interface language to be applied to the application.

Preferences	Languages				
Confirmations	Default directory		D:\CurrentTest\PgDbComp	arer\	
Compare Options	01		Default		
📕 Languages	Choose program langua	age	Detault		
III Colors	Available Languages				
	Language Name	Language F	ïle		
	Default	(none)			
	French	D:\CurrentT	est\PgDbComparer\French.lr	Ig	
	German	D:\CurrentT	est\PgDbComparer\German.I	ng	
	Russian	D:\CurrentT	est\PgDbComparer\Russian.	Ing	
	Add De <u>f</u> aults	Add	Edit	<u>D</u> elete	

In the **Available Languages** area the list of available languages and the names of the corresponding localization (\*.*lng*) files is displayed. You can manage the list of languages using the buttons below.

## Add Defaults

Adds languages from the default directory to the list of available languages.

## Add

Opens the *Add language* dialog where you can specify your own localization file and set the language name.

Add Language		Х
Language name	Russian	
Language file	D:\CurrentTest\PgDbComparer\Russian.Ing	2
	<u>O</u> K <u>C</u> ance	el

# Edit

Opens the *Edit language* dialog where you can change the language name or select another localization file for the specified language.

Edit "Russian" Lange	uage X		
Language name	Russian		
Language file	D:\PgDbComparer\Lang\Russian.Ing		
	<u>O</u> K <u>Cancel</u>		

### Delete

Removes the selected language from the **Available languages** list (without confirmation).

## See also:

Preferences Confirmations Compare Options Colors

# 6.1.5 Colors

This section of the **Environment Options** dialog allows you to set colors of various elements used in your <u>project</u>:

General colors used in <u>DB Tree</u> (Identical objects, Non-identical objects, Unique source objects, Unique target objects, Non-identical properties) and <u>Definition View</u> colors (Non-identical lines, Deleted lines, Added lines, Additional lines).

Preferences	Colors		
Confirmations Compare Options Languages Colors	General Identical objects	\$0000000	
	Non-identical objects	\$00C60000	
	Unique source objects	\$00007700	
	Unique target objects	\$00006F6F	
	Non-identical properties	\$00000AE	
	Highlight definitions Non-identical lines Deleted lines Added lines	\$00CBFFCA \$00E6E6FF \$00FFE1D2	
	Additional lines	\$00EEEEE V	

# General

Options of this group allow you to set colors for basic <u>DB Tree</u> elements. Select a system color from the list or use the ellipsis button to open the **Color** dialog allowing you to select the required color from the palette.

# **Definition View**

Options of this group allow you to set colors for <u>Definition View</u> elements. Select a system color from the list or use the ellipsis button to open the **Color** dialog allowing you to select the required color from the palette.

# See also:

Preferences Confirmations Compare Options Longuages
# 6.2 Editor options

**Editor Options** dialog allows you to set the parameters of SQL statements viewing and editing in DB Comparer for SQL Server.

To open the **Editor Options** window, select the **Options | Editor Options...** main menu item, or use the **Editor Options** button on the main toolbar.



<u>General</u> <u>Display</u> <u>Color</u> <u>Quick Code</u>

#### See also:

Environment Options Keyboard Templates

# 6.2.1 General

#### Auto indent

If this option is checked, each new indention is the same as in the previous line in <u>SQL</u> <u>Script Editor</u>.

Indents and outdents are used in the process of text editing to make the source code easier to read.

#### Insert mode

If this option is checked, the insert symbols mode is on by default.

#### **Use syntax highlight**

Enables syntax highlight in the editor area.

#### Find text at cursor

If this option is checked, the **Text to find** field in the <u>Find Text</u> and the <u>Replace Text</u> dialog windows is automatically filled with the text the cursor is set over.

#### Always show hyperlinks

If this option is checked, hyperlinks are displayed in the editor window. To open a link, click it with the *Ctrl* key pressed.

# Use smart tabs

If this option is checked, the tab length is variable. After pressing the *Tab* key the cursor aligns with the nearest first (or last) position of the neighboring line.

Editor Options	:	×
General Display Color Quick Code	General         Editor options         Auto indent         Insert mode         Use syntax highlight         Find text at cursor         Always show hyperlinks         Use smart tabs         Tab stops         Undo limit	
<u>D</u> efault	<u>O</u> K <u>Cancel H</u> elp	

#### **Tab stops**

Defines the tab length used when editing SQL text.

#### **Undo limit**

Defines the maximum number of changes that can be undone.

#### See also:

<u>Display</u> <u>Color</u> <u>Quick Code</u>

# 6.2.2 Display

#### Gutter

#### Show line numbers

Make line number visible in the left margin.

# Use code folding

Enable folding of code blocks.

Editor Options		×
General	Display	
Color	Margin and Gutter	
	Editor font	$^{\prime }\mathbf{\hat{T}}$ Courier New $\checkmark$
	Size	10 ~
		Sample 12345
<u>D</u> efault		OK <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp

#### Editor font, Size

Use these options to set the editor font and its size.

The box below displays the *sample text* with the selected font applied.

#### See also:

<u>General</u> <u>Color</u> <u>Quick Code</u>

# 6.2.3 Color

In the **Color** section of the **Editor Options** dialog you can set the background colors and text attributes (**Bold**, *Italic*, <u>Underlined</u>) used by <u>the editor</u> to mark out different text fragments: *Default*, *Comments*, *Strings*, *SQL Keywords*, *Numbers*, *Wrong Symbols*, *Identifiers*, *Symbols*, *Tables*, *Selected Text*, etc.

ditor Options		×
General	Color	
General Display Color Quick Code	Color         Element:         Default         String         SQL keyword         Number         Link         Wrong symbol         Symbol         Table alias         Datature         Comment         Imate alias         Imate alias      <	
	<	•
<u>D</u> efault	OK Cancel Help	

Use the **Foreground color** control to open the **Color** dialog allowing you to select the required color from the palette. Click the **Background color** control to select the required color using the **Color** dialog or leave the default value (white) if no background color is necessary for the selected text fragment.

# See also:

<u>General</u> <u>Display</u> <u>Quick Code</u>

# 6.2.4 Quick code

### Code completion

If this option is checked, then on typing the first characters in <u>SQL Script Editor</u> you are offered several options for the word completion as a popup list (an analogue of the *Code Insight* list in Delphi IDE). The code completion list popups after a delay defined by the **Delay** option.

#### Code parameters

If this option is checked, the Delphi-like hint for key words is enabled.

#### Delay (sec)

Using this option you can change the time for code completion popup.

# Sort column names

Enable sorting of objects in the popup menu by name.

Editor Options		Х
General Display Color Quick Code	Quick Code         Automatic features         Code completion         Code parameters         Delay (sec):         1         Sort column names         Keyboard templates         Use keyboard templates	
<u>D</u> efault	<u>O</u> K <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp	

#### **Keyboard templates**

#### **W** Use keyboard templates

Allows you to use keyboard templates for faster typing of regularly used expressions (see <u>Keyboard templates</u>).

# See also: General Display

Color

# 6.3 Keyboard templates

The **Keyboard Templates** window allows you to create new keyboard templates for quicker typing regularly used expressions and to edit the existing ones.

To open this window, select the **Options | Keyboard Templates...** main menu item, or use the **B Keyboard Templates** button on the main toolbar.



To add a new keyboard template, click the **Add Template...** button, set the template name and define the template expression. In the upper right area of the window you can change the **case** of the template expression.

You can deactivate an existing template by selecting it from the list on the left and removing the **Active** flag of the template.

Keyboard Ter	mplates				$\times$
Active Ter 	mplate L	Add Template Edit Template Delele Template		Case of Templates As is Uppercase Lowercase First upper	
IS NUP		Expansion     Cursor Position     1     #     #     #	A <u>u</u> thor	Time	Date
	Add Keyboard Ter Shortcut Name	Cancel	×		>
<u>D</u> efaul	t		<u>о</u> к	<u>C</u> ancel	<u>H</u> elp

If necessary, you can also edit the template name using the **Edit Template...** button, delete the template using the **Delete Template** button or edit the template expression within the **Expansion** area of the window. For faster editing you can use the *Symbols* menu and the *Author*, *Time*, *Date* buttons.

See also: Environment Options Editor Options

# 6.4 Selecting program language

80

The **Select Language** dialog allows you to select one of the available interface localizations to be applied to DB Comparer for SQL Server.

To open this dialog, use the **Options | Select Program Language** main menu item. The window contains the list of available languages according to the directory specified within the <u>Localization</u> section of the <u>Environment Options</u> dialog.

Select Language	×
Default - no localization (English)	
English	
French	
German	
Russian	
OK Cancel Helr	
	·

Select a language in the list and click **OK** to apply changes.

# See also:

Environment Options Editor Options Keyboard Templates



# 7 Console application

Additionally to **the GUI version** which is implemented in the form of a windows application, the installation package of DB Comparer for SQL Server includes **the console version** which is intended for being run from Windows command line with a project file name used as the execution parameter.

DB Comparer command line utility is intended for quick metadata comparison/ synchronization of SQL Server databases/schemas, which can be easily scheduled and run automatically.

Using the console application How to schedule console run

# See also:

Managing projects Working with project SQL Script Editor Reports management DB Comparer options

# 7.1 Using DB Comparer console

All the comparison options can be <u>saved</u> in **Project** (\*.*scp*) files. A project file can be also used in the **Console version** of DB Comparer for SQL Server.

For your convenience the console version of DB Comparer for SQL Server is included in the distribution package of the utility. The command line utility is intended for quick database structure comparison and synchronization and further scheduling

# Usage

83

<path to DB Comparer for SQL Server console application>\MsComparerC.exe Projectfile
[scriptfile] [logfile] [/E] [/B] [/L]

# Projectfile

Stands for the *\*.scp* file to be used as the console version execution parameter. See <u>Opening / Saving Project</u> for instructions on saving project files.

# Scriptfile

Specify the output file name to save the modification script generated by the utility. If not specified, the script will be saved as *Projectfile.sql* in the home directory of DB Comparer for SQL Server.

# Logfile

Specify the custom log file name.

# /Ε

Execute generated script after comparison.

# /L

Use the same localization in the console version as in the Wizard Application

# /В

Use this parameter to run the application in the background mode. No console window will appear.

# /Α

Analyze renamed objects.

# Examples:

"C:\Program Files\EMS\DB Comparer for SQL Server\MsComparerC.exe" DBComparer\_Project.scp Upon running the command line utility, the modification script will be generated into DBComparer\_Project.sql

"C:\Program Files\EMS\DB Comparer for SQL Server\MsComparerC.exe" DBComparer\_MS.scp Result.sql Upon running the command line utility, the modification script will be generated into Result.sql

"C:\Program Files\EMS\DB Comparer for SQL Server\MsComparerC.exe" DBComparer\_MS.scp Result.sql /E Upon running the command line utility, the modification script will be generated into *Result.sql* and executed.

**Note:** The following exit codes can be returned by DB Comparer for SQL Server to the operating system after performing the latest task:

- 0 successful completion;
- 1 error(s) occurred during task performing;
- 2 fatal error occurred. The task was not performed.

# 7.2 How to schedule console run

Here are the steps to schedule program run with standard Windows scheduler:

- 1. Set all options in the <u>Project Options</u> and click Save Project button.
- 2. Open the command line in Windows (type CMD in the Run... dialog).

3. Use the following command to run the console version with the saved project: cpath to DB Comparer for SQL Server console application>\MsComparerC.exe Projectfile
[scriptfile] [logfile] [/E] [/B] [/L]

For example:

85

"C:\Program Files\EMS\DB Comparer for SQL Server\MsComparerC.exe" DBComparer\_MS.scp Result.sql

- 4. Launch the standard Task Scheduler tool in Windows OS.
- 5. Set the command for executing the project as described above.
- 6. Set the schedule for the command execution.
- 7. Save the scheduled task.



# 8 Appendix

87

# 8.1 Find Text dialog

The **Find Text** dialog is provided for quick and flexible searching for specified text within the <u>SQL Script Editor</u> working area.

#### **Text to find**

Enter a search string in this box. The Arrow-Down button which can be found next to the input box allows you to select any of the previously entered search strings.

#### Options

# Case sensitive

This option can be used to differentiate uppercase characters from lowercase ones during the search process.

#### Whole words only

Use this option to search for words only (with this option off, the search string might be found within longer words.)

#### Regular expressions

Recognizes regular expressions in the search string.

For example, you can type "empl\*" to search for metadata containing the "empl" substring; enter "^emp" to search for words starting with "emp" or "^emp|emp\$" to search for the string "emp" at the beginning or at the end of the string.

**Note:** The syntax of regular expressions that can be used in the Text to find field is similar to that used in Perl regular expressions. Comprehensive information about it can be found at http://perldoc.perl.org/perlre.html#Regular-Expressions.

Find Text	×
Find	
Text to find ID	~
Options	Direction
<u>C</u> ase sensitive <u>W</u> hole words only	⊖ <u>F</u> orward
<u>R</u> egular expressions	● <u>B</u> ackward
Scope	Origin
● <u>G</u> lobal	From cursor
○ <u>S</u> elected text	○ Entire scope
Mark search result with stack <u>m</u> arker	, ,
OK Show <u>A</u> ll	Cancel <u>H</u> elp

#### Direction

#### Forward

Searches from the current position to the end of the SQL Script Editor area.

#### Backward

Searches from the current position to the beginning of the SQL Script Editor area.

#### Scope

# Iobal

Searches within the entire SQL Script Editor working area, in the direction specified by the *Direction* setting.

#### Selected text

Searches only within the currently selected text, in the direction specified by the *Direction* setting. You can use the mouse or block commands to select a block of text.

#### Origin

#### From cursor

The search starts at the cursor's current position, and then proceeds either forward to the end of the scope, or backward to the beginning of the scope depending on the *Direction* setting.

#### Entire scope

The search covers either the entire block of selected text or the entire script (no matter where the cursor is in the Editor area) depending upon the *Scope* options.

#### Mark search result with stack marker

The option toggles marking search results. If this option is selected, stack markers are set at all search positions - this makes it possible to jump from one marker (search result) to another within the text.

# 8.2 Replace Text dialog

The **Replace Text** dialog is provided for searching and replacing text within the <u>SQL</u> <u>Script Editor</u> working area.

#### Text to find

89

Enter a search string in this box. The Arrow-Down button which can be found next to the input box allows you to select any of the previously entered search strings.

#### **Text to replace**

This box allows you to enter a string to replace the search string. The Arrow-Down button which can be found next to the input box allows you to select any of the previously entered strings. To replace the search string with an empty string, leave this input box blank.

# Options

#### Case sensitive

This option can be used to differentiate uppercase characters from lowercase ones during the search process.

#### Whole words only

Use this option to search for words only (with this option off, the search string might be found within longer words.)

#### **Regular expressions**

Recognizes regular expressions in the search string.

# **Replace with template**

This option requires the **Regular expressions** option selection.

Enable this option to use regular expressions in the **Text to replace** field. Expression used in this field will be applied to each string that matches the **Text to find** expression.

**Note:** The syntax of regular expressions that can be used in the Text to find and the Text to replace fields is similar to that used in Perl regular expressions. Comprehensive information about it can be found at <u>http://perldoc.perl.org/perlre.html</u>.

# Prompt on replace

Check this option if you wish to be prompted before replacing upon each occurrence of the search string. When this option is off, the search string is replaced automatically.

Replace Text			
Text to find	Employee	•	
Text to <u>r</u> eplace	Employee_Addres	s 🔻	
Options		Direction	
Whole words o	only	Eorward	
Regular express Replace with Prompt on repl	ssions a template ace	⊚ <u>B</u> ackward	
Scope		Origin	
() <u>G</u> lobal		Erom cursor	
Selected text		<u>Entire scope</u>	
Mark search result with stack marker			
OK Replace <u>A</u> ll Cancel <u>H</u> elp			

## Direction

#### Forward

Searches and replaces from the current position to the end of the SQL Script Editor area.

#### Backward

Searches and replaces from the current position to the beginning of the SQL Script Editor area.

# Scope

# 🧕 Global

Searches and replaces within the entire SQL Script Editor working area, in the direction specified by the *Direction* setting.

#### Selected text

Searches and replaces only within the currently selected text, in the direction specified by the *Direction* setting. You can use the mouse or block commands to select a block of text.

#### Origin

#### From cursor

The search and replace process starts at the cursor's current position, and then proceeds either forward to the end of the scope, or backward to the beginning of the scope depending on the *Direction* setting.

#### Entire scope

The search and replace process covers either the entire block of selected text or the entire script (no matter where the cursor is in the Editor area) depending upon the *Scope* options.

#### Mark search result with stack marker

The option toggles marking search results. If this option is selected, stack markers are set at all search positions - this makes it possible to jump from one marker (search result) to another within the text.

Click the **Replace All** button to replace every occurrence of the search string. If you have checked the **Prompt on replace** option, the confirmation dialog box appears upon each occurrence of the search string.

# 8.3 Customize toolbars and menus

The **Customize** dialog allows you to create and personalize DB Comparer menus and toolbars.

To call this dialog, click the down-arrow button on the right side of any toolbar, then click **Add or Remove Buttons** and select **Customize...** from the drop-down menu. Alternatively, you can right-click any toolbar and select the **Customize...** popup menu item.



#### **Toolbars**

92

This list displays all currently existing toolbars of DB Comparer (both *default* and *user-defined* toolbars). Check/uncheck the box at a toolbar name to show/hide the toolbar.

## New...

Use this button to add a new user-defined toolbar to the **Toolbars** list. Set a name for the newly created toolbar and dock it by dragging it to any permitted location within the application window.

#### Rename...

Use this button to rename the selected user-defined toolbar.

# Delete

Use this button to delete the selected user-defined toolbar.

# Reset...

Use this button to reset the selected toolbar.



#### Commands

This tab allows you to browse the list of all commands available within the menus and toolbars of the application window. Selecting categories in the **Categories** list displays commands of the selected category (e.g. 'File' or 'Options') in the **Commands** list.

If necessary, you can pick a command and drag it to any toolbar to create a button for this command.



## **Options**

#### **Personalized Menus and Toolbars**

#### Menus show recently used commands first

This option determines whether the most frequently used items will be placed in menus at first position.

If this option is enabled, frequently used menu items are "promoted" and displayed higher on the list. Unused and infrequently used menu items are visually suppressed and appear "collapsed".

#### Show full menus after a short delay

This option is available only if the **Menus show recently used commands first** option is selected.

If this option is enabled, infrequently used menu items (if they appear "collapsed") will be automatically expanded after a delay upon setting mouse cursor (or upon selection with the Up/Down keys) on the bottom of the menu. Otherwise, the menu expands only after clicking its bottom-most button (or using the Ctrl+Down shortcut).

#### Reset my usage data

Resets the lists of recently used commands in the toolbars and menus.

🐢 Customize	×
Toolbars       Commands       Options         Personalized Menus and Toolbars       Image: Show recently used commands first         Image: Menus show recently used commands first         Image: Show full menus after a short delay	
<ul> <li><u>R</u>eset my usage data</li> <li>Other</li> <li>□ Large icons</li> <li>☑ Show ToolTips on toolbars</li> <li>☑ Show shortcut keys in ToolTips</li> </ul>	
Menu animations: (None) V	

# Other

#### ✓ Large icons

This option displays larger icons on the parent window toolbars.

# Show ToolTips on toolbars

If this option is selected, ToolTips (hints) popup when the mouse cursor is positioned over a toolbar button.

#### Show shortcut keys in ToolTips

If this option is selected, the corresponding shortcuts are displayed in ToolTips (hints) for toolbar buttons.

# Menu animations

Use the drop-down list to specify the menu animation effects: *None* (no animation) *Random* (random choice: *Unfold*, *Slide*, *Fade*) *Unfold* (unfolding menus) *Slide* (sliding menus) *Fade* (menus fade in when appearing)

# 8.4 Checking for updates

96

Use Help main menu to check if the newer version of the tool has been released.

Project Edit View Options Windows	Help
🖻 📑 🖶 🗸 🖻 🖻 🔎 🔒	What's New?
	Contents F1
	삼 DB Comparer Home Page
	Check For Updates
	Send Bug Report
	Purchase DB Comparer
	Register DB Comparer
	1 About

# Check for the new version on startup

Enable autocheck for updates on program startup.

After a new version is found click **Update** to download and install the latest version of the application or Cancel to close the dialog.

Downloading	Check for updates		×
	Downloading		
Update     Cancel       ✓ Check for the new version on startup	Check for the new version on startup	<u>U</u> pdate	<u>C</u> ancel

© 1999-2025 EMS Software Development

# Credits

# Software Developers:

Michael Kuzevanov Alexey Butalov Dmitry Schastlivtsev Alexander Zhiltsov

#### **Technical Writers:**

Semyon Slobodenyuk Dmitry Doni Olga Ryabova

# **Cover Designer:**

Tatyana Makurova

# Translators:

Anna Shulkina Serge Fominikh

# **Team Coordinators:**

Alexey Butalov Alexander Chelyadin Roman Tkachenko